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I. STATEMENT

1. On October 15, 2014, Trial Staff (Complainant or Staff) of the Commission served Respondent TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS (Respondent or ATS), with Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 110542 arising out of one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 391.23(a)(2), and ten alleged violations of Rule 6102(a)(I) 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 CFR § 395.8(a).
2. On November 16, 2014, counsel for Commission Staff (Staff) entered his appearance in the proceeding.

3. On November 12, 2014, the Commission referred this matter to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ).

4. On November 14, 2014, by Interim Decision No. R14-1371-I, the evidentiary hearing in this proceeding was scheduled for December 16, 2014.

5. On December 16, 2014, the above captioned proceeding was called. Counsel for Staff entered his appearance. The Respondent failed to appear. A recess was taken to allow additional time for the Respondent to appear. After a 15-minute recess, the proceeding was called again and the Respondent again failed to appear.  The proceeding was then commenced without the presence of the Respondent.

6. Staff offered the testimony of Criminal Investigators Nate Riley and Anthony Cummings. Hearing Exhibits 1 through 26 were offered and admitted. At the conclusion of the evidence, Staff presented an oral closing statement.  At that point, the ALJ stated the record was to remain open until January 6, 2015 for Staff to file an affidavit concerning the status of the authorities of the Respondent. The record was closed for all other evidence. The ALJ also allowed Staff to file a statement of position by January 6, 2015.  The matter was then taken under advisement.

7. On January 20, 2015, by Decision No. R15-0061, a civil penalty of $5,775.00 was assessed against the Respondent and Tony Dassinger (the owner of ATS) was ordered to cease and desist  from operating as a motor carrier until such time that:  (a) all drivers have full and complete driver files; (b) proof of insurance or surety coverage has been filed with the Commission; (c) outstanding penalties have been paid; and (d) evidence is supplied that all of its vehicles in service in intrastate commerce meet all operational and safety requirements under state and federal law.
8. Respondent was also advised that failure to pay the civil penalty within 30 days would result in ATS, any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, being disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of five years following the due date of the civil penalty.
9. On March 19, 2015, by Decision No. C15-0258, the Commission denied exceptions, but pursuant to § 40-10.1-304, C.R.S., reduced the time for disqualification from five years to three years if the Respondent failed to pay the civil penalty within 30 days and stated that the cease and desist order was in effect and no new permits would be issued to ATS its owner, Tony Dassinger or any company owned or operated by Tony Dassinger until certain provisions were met including the payment of all outstanding civil penalties. 
10. On May 4, 2015, the Respondent paid the $5,775.00 civil penalty assessment in the above captioned proceeding. This payment was beyond the 30-day deadline.

11. On May 7, 2015, the Respondent filed a letter requesting that the cease and desist order be lifted due to the $5,775.00 payment and other actions taken by the Respondent.

12. On June 10, 2015, by Decision No. C15-0539, the Commission rejected the Respondent’s request for reconsideration of the cease and desist order and disqualification due to the filing not being timely.

13. On June 18, 2015, an entry of appearance was filed by counsel for the Respondent in this proceeding.

14. On September13, 2017, Staff filed its Motion to Reopen and Remand and Amend Caption to Reflect TJM Holding’s Current Trade Name of Velocity (Motion to Reopen). In the Motion to Reopen, Staff stated that they believe that the Respondent is in violation of the cease and desist and disqualification orders in this proceeding and seek to have remedies provided for and the order enforced. 

15. On October 4, 2017, the Commission remanded this matter. 

16. On October 6, 2017, by Decision No. R17-0816-I, a hearing was scheduled for October 23, 2017.

17. On October 23, 2017,  the hearing was held and addressed issues of service with the Motion to Remand.  The remand was proper for the relief requested.  Staff was instructed to file a brief in support of the remand including prior cases in which a case was reopened and remanded for a determination that there had been a violation of an order in the remanded case, to determine if Respondent still retained counsel and to ensure proper service was made on the Respondent.  

18. On October 26, 2017, Staff filed its Motion Regarding Service and Authority of ALJ to Hear Matter on Remand (Motion). In the Motion, Staff requested this matter be set for hearing.

19. On November 22, 2017, by Decision No. R17-0968-I a hearing was scheduled for December 21, 2017.

20.  On December 21, 2017, the above captioned proceeding was called. Counsel for Staff entered her appearance. The Respondent failed to appear. A recess was taken to allow additional time for the Respondent to appear. After a 15-minute recess the proceeding was called again and the Respondent again failed to appear.  The proceeding was then commenced without the presence of the Respondent.

21. Staff offered the testimony of Colorado State Patrol Trooper Mark Manuel, and Criminal Investigators Nate Riley and Anthony Cummings. Hearing Exhibits 1 through 21 were offered and admitted. At the conclusion of the evidence, Staff presented an oral closing statement.  The matter was then taken under advisement 
II. FINDINGS OF FACT
22. Mark Manuel is a Trooper for the Colorado State Patrol.

23. Nate Riley is a criminal investigator (CI) employed by the Commission’s Transportation Investigation and Enforcement Section

24. Anthony Cummings is a CI employed by the Commission’s Transportation Investigation and Enforcement Section.  

25. Mr. Tony Dassinger is disqualified from being issued a permit for a transportation company regulated by the Commission from April 18, 2015 until April 18, 2018. and is under a cease and desist order from the Commission.

26. On May 5, 2015, Velocity Transit Services (Velocity) was incorporated by the State of Colorado. Tony Dassinger is listed as the incorporator.  Hearing Exhibit 3, p.2-3. On August 3, 2015, Velocity was dissolved. Id at p.5.  On September 21, 2015, Velocity reformed with John Adams listed as the incorporator Id at 8-9.  On September 13, 2016, the registered agent for Velocity was changed to Tony Dassinger. Id. at 11.  All of the above listed filings have an address for Velocity listed at 7505 Dahlia Street, Commerce City, Colorado 80022. 

27. As of October 13, 2017,
 Tony Dassinger has unpaid civil penalties in the amount of $25,442.00 from two previous proceedings. Hearing Exhibit 5, p.32-36
28. In a support letter for a transportation service, Mr. Dassinger held himself out as the “Director” of Velocity Transportation. The letter states that Velocity desires to focus on school bus contracts. Hearing Exhibit 7. 

29. In 2015, Mr. Dassinger made contact with Adams County School District 14 (Adams 14) to provide bus service. On June 18, 2015, Mr. Dassinger entered into a contract to provide bus service for Adams 14 for a 12-day period. Hearing Exhibits 8 & 9.
30. Mr. Dassinger entered into an agreement for Velocity to provide bus transportation for Community Leadership Academy located in Commerce City, Colorado. The contract provided that Velocity would provide bus transportation for every day in the 2015/2016 school year. The contract was signed by Mr. Dassinger on August 3, 2015. Hearing Exhibit 11.
31. In 2016, ATS provided bus transportation to Holstrom K-8 school in Northglenn, Colorado. Hearing Exhibits 12 & 13.
32. On June 8, 2016, CI Riley and CI Cummings made an investigation at Velocity. During the investigation, Mr. Dassinger or other employees provided a series of e-mail chains in paper form. The e-mail chains indicate that Velocity or ATS was also involved in providing or attempting to provide transportation services to Elkhart Elementary school (Aurora Colorado), New Hope Academy (Greely, Colorado), Wyatt Academy (location unknown), Colorado Heights University (Denver, Colorado), Castle View High School (Castle Rock, Colorado), I AM Learning Center (Denver, Colorado), Global Village Academy (Aurora, Colorado), Stargate School (location unknown), Girls Athletic Leadership School (Denver, Colorado), Hope On-Line Learning Academy (Brighton, Colorado), Denver Jewish Day School (Denver, Colorado), Hinkley High School, (Aurora, Colorado), and Harrington Elementary (Denver, Colorado).  All of these e-mail conversations occurred between January 2016 and April 2016. Most of the 
e-mails are either to or from Mr. Dassinger. Hearing Exhibit 14.
33. CI Cummings also had a conversation with Mr. Dassinger and Mr. Adams while conducting the investigation. At no time did Mr. Adams hold himself out to be the owner of Velocity nor did he answer any questions about Velocity. Mr. Dassinger answered all questions. Mr. Adams appeared not to know what his role actually was with Velocity.  Later, CI Cummings determined that Mr. Adams acted as a bus mechanic.  Hearing Transcript p. 105, l. 24. 

34. During this investigation, CI Cummings examined buses and found many of the same safety issues including extreme exhaust leaks.  

35. On July 19, 2015, a marathon was scheduled in Morrison Colorado. The event was organized by a company named Revel Rockies (Revel). Revel had entered into a contract with ATS to provide transportation for runners to the start line.  The marathon was cancelled due to ATS providing only 18 of the 52 contracted buses. Hearing Exhibit 16.  ATS did not have an active permit at this time.

36. Ana Ryan is the Colorado representative for Revel. Ms. Ryan entered into the contract with ATS and Mr. Dassinger. 

37. On May 11, 2016, Ms. Ryan viewed a photo lineup and identified Mr. Dassinger as the person from ATS whom she contracted with to provide bus transportation for the marathon. Hearing Exhibit 17.
38.    There is a lawsuit in Federal Court against ATS and Mr. Dassinger concerning the failure to provide buses for the marathon. Hearing Exhibit 18.
39. On July 19, 2017, a compliance review was conducted by Trooper Manuel at Velocity. Trooper Manuel found numerous violations in his review.

40. During the review, Trooper Manuel questioned employees of Velocity including Mr. Dassinger. During the questioning, Mr. Dassinger identified himself as the owner of Velocity.  

III. ISSUE
41. Has Mr. Dassinger violated the disqualification and the cease and desist order issued in this proceeding on January 10, 2015 and later modified by Commission Decision No. C15-0258?  

IV. APPLICABLE LAW
42. As the proponent of a Commission order, Complainant has the burden of persuasion in this proceeding pursuant to 4 CCR 723-1-1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.

43. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Administrative Procedure Act imposes the burden of proof in administrative adjudicatory proceedings upon "the proponent of an order."  § 24-4-105(7), C.R.S.  As provided in Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1500, “[t]he proponent of the order is that party commencing a proceeding.”  Here, Staff is the proponent since it commenced the proceeding through issuance of the CPAN.  Complainant bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  See, § 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; 4 CCR 723-1-1500.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Dept. of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  While the quantum of evidence that constitutes a preponderance cannot be reduced to a simple formula, a party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.

V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
44. Mr. Dassinger is disqualified from being issued a permit for a transportation company regulated by the Commission from April 18, 2015 until April 18, 2018. and under a cease and desist order from the Commission.
45. The Respondent did not appear for the hearing and therefore no defense was presented to the alleged violations of the order arising from the initial decision in this proceeding. 

46. The testimony of CI Riley and CI Cummings was credible that the Respondent has engaged in activities prohibited by the disqualification and cease and desist order.

47. The record in this remanded proceeding is full of instance after instance where Mr. Dassinger has continued to operate a transportation company without Commission authority or behind a straw man (Mr. Adams).  The evidence is substantial and conclusive that Mr. Dassinger is in violation of the disqualification and cease and desists orders that issued from this proceeding on January 20, 2015.

48. The undersigned ALJ continues to be alarmed and appalled by the history of violations, the lack of concern for the safety of the public, and the willful violation of Commission rules and orders exhibited by the Respondent. 

VI. CONCLUSION

49. Mr. Dassinger has violated the disqualification and the cease and desist order issued in this proceeding on January 10, 2015 and later modified by Commission Decision No. C15-0258.
50. Pursuant to § 40-10.1-116, C.R.S., the undersigned ALJ requests the Attorney General of the State of Colorado to commence an action in the district court in and for the county or city and county in which the cause or some part thereof arose, or in which the motor carrier complained or maintains a principal place of business or resides.  

VII. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. The Respondent TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS and its owner Tony Dassinger are found to be in violation of the disqualification and the cease and desist order issued in this proceeding on January 10, 2015 and later modified on March 19, 2015 by Commission Decision No. C15-0258.
2. The undersigned Administrative Law Judge requests the Attorney General of the State of Colorado to commence an action in the district court in and for the county or city and county in which the cause or some part thereof arose, or in which the motor carrier complained or maintains a principal place of business or resides.
3. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

4. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

a) If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

b) If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  
5. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


ROBERT I. GARVEY
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� The Respondent still had not paid prior civil penalty assessments


� It is believed that these amounts are unpaid as of the date of the hearing. Although Mr. Riley had not checked since October 13, 2017, he testified that if they had been paid he “probably would have been notified” Hearing Transcript p. 36, l. l. 23-24. 


�  Later modified by Commission Decision No. C15-0258
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